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AG: Could you please first tell me about

your time in Hoboken, when you arri-ved, how long you have

lived here, where you, re from?

MC: I came to Hoboken in October of t96i to

become the Model cities Director at that time. r am from

Minnesota, but between Minnesota and Hoboken, I l-ived in

several places. Just prior to coming to Hoboken, I was

employed with the us Economic Development Administration in

washington where r had been employed for almost three years

and I and my family at that time, we1l, we lived in

Alexandria, Virginia.

AG: How did you hear about the job here and

what interested you? was thls a job that was advertised or
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something you heard was perhaps being planned and you got

involved in 1t? How did you happen to come here?

MC: While I was working for EDA, the

Economic Development Administration, I had one

responsibility of reviewing for EDA the economic

development components of Model Cities applications that

were currently, through L967, being reviewed 1n Washington.

And, Hoboken's application stood out for its quality and

comprehensiveness and it caught my attention. However, it

was through a friend of mine who worked for the New Jersey

Department of Community Affairs who informed me that

Hoboken was Iooking for a Director for its Model Cities

Program and that two or three people had been approached

and had been, had declined the offer and would I be

interested in going to Hoboken to discuss the proqram

with the Mayor and other people up there.

AG: What agency 1n Washington was

responsible for Model Cities at t.hat time? Was it EDA?

HUD?
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MC: HUD was responsible for the Model

Cities Program and other agencies were involved, but IIUD

was the lead agency.

AG: When did Model Cities begin? When did

the initiative begin j-n Washington? And when did the first

applications, when did they arrive and was Hoboken among

first?

MC: In 1,967, HUD invited cities throughout

the United States to enter the competition for a Model

Cities Program. HUD was going to select 39 cities totally

for the Program. This was a very selective program, the

Model Cities Program. And so local applications were

submitted to Washington, to HUD, in 1961, early -mld L961.

The application for Hoboken was prepared by Hoboken, s

planning consultant at that time, Ralph Se11gman, who was

the planning consultant for many years in Hoboken. Hoboken

did not have a planning staff of any kind up to that point.

AG: Did Hoboken have a Planning Board?

And, also, how many applications totally did HUD receive?
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MC: Hoboken did have a Planning Board, but

it really didn't become involved in the planning or

applicatlon process. This was essentially prepared by the

consultant, approved by the Mayor and Council, and then,

during the application process, the Mayor lobbied for it

vigorously in Washington.

There was something in the order of 175 or 200 applications

submitted from cities in the United States. And, in New

Jersey, the three clties who obtaj_ned the Model Cities

Program were Newark, Trenton and Hoboken, on1y. Hoboken

was the smal-1est city in the country to receive the award

as a Model Clties Progiram.

AG: At the time that this Program became

available and citles could apply for that, what were the

criteria, the basic criteria that HUD established for -

acceptance of a proposal. And the Mayor obviously was very

supportive of thls. And, what - encouraged him to be

supportlve of this? Can you descrlbe the atmosphere in

Hoboken at that time. I do realize the extent of the

poverty, the extent of the housing problems and economic

health - concerns, but what gave the initiative here to

pursue this?
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MC: The year I came to Hoboken, the Urban

League of the united states had published a rist of the ten

worst ci-ties to rive in the united states. Hoboken was on

the list.

AG: What other cities were on the list?

MC: We1I, Newark in New Jersey was the only

other one here in the state, I can, t recall now. There

were some cities in the south and a few industrlal cities,

Detroit was one... I - can't reca.Il others right now. But

anlrway, Hoboken was, as you mentioned, was very depressed,

a totally different city from what it is today. And, the

Mayor, Louis DePascale, who was a - labor unj-on leader on

the docksr orr the waterfront in Hoboken. He was the head

of the shipbuilders' union, and there was shlpbuilding

going on up in the Bethlehem Steel shipyard. And he was

also the Mayor of Hoboken. He was a World War II

battlefield hero with a lot of decorations. In short, he,

he was a very strong person, and a very strong leader, and

a very strong Mayor. He saw the Model Clties program as an

opportunlty for the Clty to tap into significant federal
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funds, which was being promised at the time, to hetp

rebuild the cities. He was an oId time Hudson County

politician, but he was a good politician in the sense he

knew thow power worked in Hoboken and Hudson County, and he

used it. And for this reason, he really worked very

energeticarly in washlngton among the congressional caucus

of New Jersey. Without his strong support and active work

on its behalf, Hoboken would not have been selected. But

also, without the quallty of the applicatlon, Hoboken would

not have been sel-ected. So the two together, caught the

attention of Washington.

HUD never intended this Program, Model Cities, to be for

smal-l cities. ft was intended to be for large, urban areas

where there were large neighborhoodsr or communities within

the city, in which they, HUD was going to use the Model

Cities Proqram to, as a demonstration program to show what

could be done 1n a select, few cities around the country

that showed very depressed condltions, but also showed a

variety and a wlde ranging variety of factors, such as

vitality and basic housing construction.

So, when I got here, the application had been approved and

the next step was for the Clty to receive a Planning Grant,
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which it received in June 1968 to use, to develop the

Program, and to describe what we were going to do to raise

up the Neighborhood in Hoboken, the Model Cities

Neighborhood, roughly one-third of the city at the time (1"'

St to 4th St. ) Upon being approved in Washington, then we

wou1d subsequently recej-ve funding in Block Grants,

approximately $5 million a year for a period of five or

more years. Later that was extended, but the intentlon was

to use the money to leverage other funding, both public and

private, with the realization that $5 mill-ion a year was

not nearly sufficient. But, it was given to the City to

carry out its Plan and program of revitalization.

And so r became Model cities Director shortly after the

application had been approved. Hoboken was approved as a

Model City in 1,061 receiving an initial grant of $131,000

in 1968. we received a wlth a sma1l amount of money to be

used for planning staff and for whatever we needed to do

to develop our action program to submit that to HUD for its

final approval, and then to begin program implementation

which started in 1,969.

AG: I skipped over the issue of criteria by

You mentioned that Hoboken would never have received
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this proposal, accepted this proposal because it, s a small

City, but because of the lobbying on behalf of the Mayor

made a great difference. Can you te1l me more about the

basic criteria and what Hoboken met of that criteria

besides its small city size.

MC: The criteria were essentially a -

social, economic, housing and physical situation that

prevented the residents from living a decent 1ife. We had

to make the case for Hoboken that adverse conditions

existed and that without significant Federal, state, and

private investment into the City, those conditions would

not be alleviated. ft's important to real-ize at that

time, riots in the inner cities were a fact of life around

the country. In New Jersey, most of those were 1n Newark

and Patterson, somewhat Jersey City. Up to that time,

Hoboken had been spared of any. But in most of the larger

cities around the country, there was a lot of ferment. The

Model Cities Program was really intended as a response to

do something of a significant nature to deal with those

issues.

AG: When you decided to come to Hoboken,

and talk to the Mayor in 1967r can you te1l me a 1itt1e bit
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about your first impressions of the community and how you

imagined thls job being accomprished given the conditions

that you saw at that time. You moved from Alexandria which

had been revitarized by that time. Give me your impressions

of that.

MC: My first visit to Hoboken was a shock!

It shook me because I had expected bad conditions, but

the total impact of those conditions in one square mire

was, more than I had anticipated. And/ that was one

impression. The second i-mpression was that r was impressed

by the Mayor's sincerity. He indicated that this was the

first time he had ever gone outside the city to employ

anyone except for Ralph Selig"man, the city, s planning

consul-tant. This was an unusual- step in Hudson county for a

Mayor to do this. He said that he was looking for the best

person he could get who would be willing to come to

Hoboken. And, a few others before me turned the job down

after they came to the City and saw the situatj_on. And,

tlme was running out for him to hire someone. He told me at

my at our first meeting as the Director that he will give

me the flnar say on hiring people for my staff as long as r

consulted with him first (and he said no other Director in

the City had that freedom); and secondly, he said he did
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not expect me to live in the City. If I wanted to lj_ve

outside in the suburbs that would be perfectly all right.

I had a wife and three children at that time, my daughter

Suzi being born in March of 1968.

Eor my part, Alexandria was very nice. My wife and I loved

it there. We Iived in a beautiful area. And, 1t was a

difficult decision. I was going to George Washington Law

School in Washlngton at night; I was about halfway through.

But, my reason for going to work in the Federal Government

had changed. I went to work in the Economic Development

Administrati-on and our Agency received significant federal

funding from Congress, and we were doing some very good

projects around the country. But, the Vletnam War changed

al-I that, and by 796'7/ proqrams l_ike EDA and the..War on

Poverty" Prog:ram, another one where I was a consultant for

one year were drastically reduced in their funding and so

losing the ability to achieve many results was l1mited.

And Model cities was the first new federal program to come

along, and it came with the promise of a fot of Federal

funding.

The decision to come to Hoboken was based not on the

Mayor's active interest j-n recruiting me, but also that I
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had a great deal of workingi experience i-n the Federal-

Government and also in the international field before that.

I saw the possibility in Hoboken of doing something

effective and achieving real- proqress through the Mode1

Cities Program, in part, because if its small size; it was

a more manageable situation, and it wasn't totally

impossi-bIe in f ive years or more to make a real impact.

AG: You mentioned that EDA and other

programs coming out of the War on Poverty were reduced, the

expenses were reduced. What was the inltlative to give all

this money to Model Cities in that envj-ronment at that

time?

MC: The riots, primarily, in cities around

the country. I think it was rea11y a reaction to that.

And also Nixon was President at that time and his

administration wanted to put President Johnson's programs

out of business (which EDA and the War on Poverty were),

and to start a program with his own signature on it. Nixon

had control of Congress at that time, and so the Model

Cities Program was a Republican creation.
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AG: Getting back to Hoboken, did you decide

to I1ve here r ot in the suburbs? And can you describe a

little bit about the political will and supporL of the

Mayor. How about the City Council? What was their feeling

or support of this Program?

MC: I never considered living outside the

City. I knew from my experience (f was thirty-six years

old at the time).that I realIy could never understand the

City if I was commuting in and out, and that our family had

to live in the City. At firstr we rented a house on the

1100 block of B]oomfield. We rented the entire house, all

four floors for $100 a month! We lived there for four

years, renting - for one primary reason: we didn, t know how

lon.g we were going to stay here. fnitially, my wife didn,t

want to come at all-, but after three yearsr w€ bought a

home in Hoboken, a brownstone on the adjoining bIock, on

Garden Street for $25r 000, which the real estate person

said I was paylng way too much for. By that time, fry wife

and children came to love the city and the people in it,

and we had many good friends here.

At the time f came here, the Mayor was in his second term,

a four-year term, and he had had eight out of nine votes
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on the City Council. So, almost anything he wanted, he

was able to get approved.

AG: He was in his second term at that

time. Did he continue to be Mayor throughout this Program

or were other, were there changes made? And, how did that

affect the Program?

MC: He was Mayor for two terms, from 1965

to 1973. He was defeated at the end of his second term by

the single opposltion Councilman, who over the years

gradually obtained support throughout the City. Hls name

was Steve CapieIlo.

AG: When you came to Hoboken and began to

work on the Planning Grant in 1968, te1l me how you started

this project, how you began to work on the project and

perhaps give me a 11ttle bit of background about how the

one-third of the City that was chosen, became the area that

you worked in.
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MC: The first challenge was to recruit a Planning and

Program Development Team using the lnitial Planning Grant

of $131,000 that we received, which was essentially a one

year - grant for staffing sal-aries and organizational work

that had to be done. A Neighborhood Planning Committee

worked in conjunction with us during the whol_e program,

whlch was one of the criteria of HUD. I decided to employ

a professional team for this initial perj_od, and recruited

men and women, young men and women mostly younqer than

myself. I was 36 at the tlme; most of these people were

just a few years out of college or out of graduate school.

I hired an initlal staff of approximately ten peopl_e who

worked with me in several specialized areas of housing,

employment, educati-on, social services, recreation and so

forth, along with secretarial support.

AG: All the people you hired were non-

Hobokeners?

MC: None of the professional people that I

initially hired were from Hoboken. f retained Ralph

Seligrman, Hoboken's Planner, along with two other planning

consultants from New York. And the secretarial and support

staff were Hoboken and as well as the staff of the
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Neighborhood Planning Committee which set up an office and

with ful1 time staff of their own choosing, people from the

Neighborhood, and from the community. The NPC had a staff

of five or six full time people and a professional planner,

a consultant of their own choosing.

I wish to relate the hlring of my first person, my

secretary. I needed a secretary as soon as possible. I

decided to hire a minority person from the community. And

sor I put out the word (through various churches and

others), that I was looking for a secretary. One of the

ministers referred a young woman, a Puerto Rican, who was

just out of high school 2-3 years and working as a

secretary in one of the factories in Hoboken. Norma was

from the Neighborhood, right on First Street. I saw

immediately that she had great typing skills. She came to

Hoboken as a young ch1ld with her fam11y so she spoke

English and Spanish, she was smart and she also spoke some

ftalian. I decided that I was going to hire Norma and I

went to the Mayor and said, "Mayor, I have found a

secretary." And, he reacted with surprise and said,

"What?" And I said, "f found a secretary." And he said,

"Who is she?" And I said, "She's a young Puerto Rican

gir1, woman living on First Street and her skills are
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great." He said, "Look some more." I said, "But, wL,y?"

And he said, "Just look around some morei your search isn't

over yet!" I said to myself, "This is - not a good sign!

Thls is the first person I was going to hire for a very

important job, but this was not a good omen!" So, I just

thought awhile, and the Mayor ca11ed me over to his office

j-n a day or two, and he said, "Hire someone from this

Iist." And, I looked at the list and clearly there were no

minority people on the 11st, although they were all from

Hoboken; I think there were about six or eight names on the

list. I took the list and I ca1led two women from it. And

I didn't know them at all, or any of their political

connections, but they both had relatively good skills and

would have been, rok.', but they were not minorities. I

went back to the Mayor and I sald, "Mayor, I've interviewed

them, but my choice is stil1 Norma." I had decided that,

"I had to win this first test, because if I lost this one,

it's aII over!" He said, "Wel-l, think about it some more."

We played this cat and mouse game (I was the mouse,

clearly) for a while and my work was falling behind. This

went on for almost a month. At one of our meetinqs, I

reminded him of his commitment to me before I took the job,

and when he said, I coul-d hire anyone as long as I

consulted him. He said, "We11, I've kept my commitment."
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And I said, "It doesn't seem that way to me because I

real1y want to hire Norma. I think it is important for the

Program." (The Model Cities area was mostly Hispanic,

mostly Puerto Rican). "You said, I could hlre whom I

wanted." And, he said, "Yes. You can hire anybody you

want, from that list!" He was serious. Thls was his idea

of 'freedom.' He said, "None of my Directors has even

thls freedom. I teII them whom they are going to hire." A

week or two after that, he cal"l-ed me, "You can hire Norma."

I said, "Great!" I won my flrst victory! This is not

going to be an easy job!

Norma started work the next day.

The next day, one of the women who I interviewed from the

list also showed up and she said; "The Mayor said you have

a job for me." And, so I said, "Ok. This is how it's

going to work. I get mine. He gets hi-s!" So I hired two

secretaries at first. Some years later, Norma and f were

talking, we became good friends and she actually went on

from being a secretary to one of the Project Directors in

the employment area). She said, "You know I stitl am

angry at you for the hiring process you put me through 1n

the beginning." And I said, "We11, what do you mean? You
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weren' t even directly j-nvolved in it. I was doing all the

front-end work." And she said, "I didn't like it when one

of the men from the City Hall- came to my door and said,

rThe Mayor is hirlng you, he is selecting you as a

secretary in Model Cities." I said, "I didn't know that

the Mayor sent someone to your door." I said, "1 never

knew that ! " And she said, "That's what happened and I was

realIy angry and upset for a long time."

Norma is currently the Director of Housing in Orlando,

Florida at thls time! I spoke to her recently.

AG: That's wonderful ! You started a great

career! It sounds like his views and yours were different

on the hiring front ! Did that happen in other areas of

this before we get into the details of the Program?

MC: Every staff selection was a struggle.

For every person I got, there was a concession made. One

of the big concessions was the staffing of the Neighborhood

Committee, ltself. While the Model Citles Neighborhood was

Hispanic, the Neighborhood Planning Committee staff was

almost al-1 Afro-Amerlcan. The Executive Dlrector was a

Ieader in the community, ,Joanne Jackson, a very strong
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woman. There were Hispanics on the NPC Committee of

course, but the Afro-American conrmunity really gave

direction to the Neighborhood Planning effort. There was a

good reason for that. When the Mayor ran for election, he

won by thirteen votes, which his opponent contested and the

first election was nullified. A second election was ca1led

for. And, Joanne Jackson got a bloc of about three hundred

votes from the Black Community to vote for the Mayor in the

second election. Mayor de Pascale won by less than 100

votes. So-- Joanne ,fackson had free entr6e in City Hal1.

She was a very strong and vocal spokesman for the Black

community. She was the person in the Model Cities

Neighborhood, whom I had to work things out with, in order

to get Nelghborhood support. She had free access to the

Mayor and she used her power well.

AG: What made the Blacks more powerful at

the time than the Hispanics? Was it a language issue,

recent immigration, or Blacks living here for a long

period? here?

MC: The Black community was a very sma1l

part of the Hoboken population. ft was simply because of

their concentrated power at the elections. They qot more
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votes for the Mayor than the few thousand Puerto Ricans

did. So, it wasn't thelr numbers, it was their use of

power, and their ability to use 1t selectively and they did

so to help the Mayor, who would not have been Mayor except

for those few hundred votes from Joanne Jackson.

An aside: the Puerto Rican people and the Black people had

both been here a long time. Puerto Rican peopl-e started

coming here after World War I1. Veterans Programs induced

returning veterans from Hoboken to move out to the suburbs

and starting homes was easy to finance. This left a lot of

vacant apartment buildings and homes and many factories in

Hoboken used that opportunity to go to Puerto Rico to

recruj-t and to actually transport Puerto Ricans into

Hoboken, into apartmenLs owned by the companies themselves.

They owned blocks of apartment buildings. For exampler orr

l.21'h and Willow, there the "Tootsie Roll Flats", a Maxwell

House coffee complex-actua11y General Foods. Company

housing like this brought several thousand Puerto Ricans to

work in Hoboken factories the factories, the garment

factories, Standard Brands, Maxwell House Coffeer oo the

docks. Norma's father was a dockworker who came this way.

So, Puerto Ricans were the group that primarily fil1ed up
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the vacancj-es, occurring by Iong term Hoboken families

moving to the suburbs.

While the Hispanic, and again this was mostly a Puerto

Rican population, was 402 or more of the City's population,

the Black population was approximately 5% or perhaps 2,000

to 31 000 people. But, in terms of political power, the

Hispanics coul-d not get their act together. They were

scattered and diffused and competed among themselves,

whereas the Black community concentrated its power behind a

few leaders and used it where 1t counted the most. In

terms of the Model Cities Program, they were the principal

community that I had to negotiate deals with, more so than

the Hispanic community.

AG: Why was the Black population of Hoboken

small? And, were they hired in Hoboken to work in the

factories and the shipyards or, did you see a lot of

discrimination at that time? Was there a preference for

hiring Hispanics whose power was more diffuse or was that

one of the issues?

MC: As I heard it f rom the Black l-eaders at

the time, the City did everything possible to keep the
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Bracks out- only a smalr number got into Hoboken; the rest

Iived j-n Jersey City (in terms of Hudson County) . Whereas

the Puerto Rican people who were more docile, and who were

glad to accept low wagie jobs just to have any kind of

employment were the - was the population that filled up -

the vacant buildlngs and obtalned jobs more easily. When I

came here, the population was about 55? white ethnic, 402

Puerto Rican, and 58 Black.

The white population was about 552 and that was mainly

Italian, plus lrish, Slovak, German. And the Italians were

at that time, in political control-. Just previous to

that time, the Irish had the political power in Hoboken.

And, before that, the Germans did. So, it had to do with

the waves of immigration that characterized Hoboken over

the years.

AG: You mentioned that You had

difflculties with stafflng and having to hire most of your

professionals from out of town. Can you te11 me about the

staff that you did hire and how that eventually smoothed

out when you were able to get things going?
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MC: The staff that I hired to develop the

initlal Model Cities program was only about ten people all

together. They were about equally divided between men and

women. Two or three of them had just left the Peace Corps

and were getting their graduate degrees in New York. One

was an Israeli from Israel who had worked over there. I

had two Black people on our Planning staff; one had worked

in Boston for the Planning Department there. One Hispanic

woman, Viviana, was the daughter of Munoz l{arin, the first

President of Puerto Rico and She was living in New ,Jersey

and doinqr graduate work. She came to work fu11 time as our

Education Planner. Hiring her gave me a 1ot of support

among the Puerto Rican communi-ty here, not so much support

elsewhere. Our planning team essentially worked with

community leaders to develop the Program. And, also Ralph

Seligman, one of the consultants, Peter SaIins, the

Director who had been the Director of the Planning

Department of City College in New York. During that first

year, w€ had a small professional, plus all of the

secretarial and support staff was local. The Neighborhood

had its own staff. With that composition, I had enough

good expertise and a1so, enough political support from the

Mayor so that I didn't have to negotiate with individual

Council member but just with the Mayor who controlled eight
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of the nine council members. That was enough to glve me

the space I needed to accomplish this task, which as you

saw in the plann|ng volumes, was considerable. We worked

day and night for about fifteen months to get our Program

together and to get it approved in Washington.. In the

middle of 7969 our Proqram was approved by HUD, and we

began actual projects and new services in Hoboken.

AG: Just briefJ-y can you tell me about the

process of putting that Pl-an together, .and 
the kinds of

conflicts, negotiations, differences of opinion you

encountered? How did aII of the disparate people from

dlfferent nelghborhoods aqree on - this one PIan. I was

very lnterested to find when I read the Plan document, how

you ranked priorities and the welght you gave to

effectiveness, to cost effectiveness, to the feasibility of

that, and the cost. And, how you in flve different

Neighborhoods, how did one Planning Council from aI1 five

agree about other Neighborhoods. Just a litt1e bit about

the process and the citizen participation of that.

MC: The way we approached it was first, to

learn from the community what the urgent needs were, AS

felt by them. And that was channeled through committees
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that were set up within the Neighborhood Planning

Committee, itself, So that loca1 residents could come to

meetings. we had meetings almost every night for a year.

And they were discussing what needed to be done and what

the problems were from their living experience. During all

those meetings, one of my staff was always present and afso

the Npc had thelr consultant present working with them

because there was always the charge being made that 'you

don't listen to us. And..Are we just going to talk and

you're going to do what you want an\rway, and so there was

a lot of suspicion all around. Butr w€ set up a structure

so that we could get that input coming in, in terms of the

community urgently felt needs.

We also retained from Princeton, The Opinion Research

Corporation as a professional survey organization that

carried out, within the Neighborhood, a comprehensive

survey of - needs among the popul-ation. And that was our

pure professional overlay on top of - the community. And

Lhen, my own planning staff who were working not only in

the community, for example, Viviana, who was our

Educational- Planner from Puerto Rico, she was working with

the educational system in the City, talking to teachers,

and students, and the Board of Education. My staff was
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coming up with their own ideas of what the problems were

and what should be done. And then I, through the Mayor,

was meeting constantly with the City Council- and committees

on the City Council who were also voicing their opinions,

none too del-icate1y, to me of what they wanted me to do.

So, it was through all of these different sources that

information was r oy the needs were discussed, debated, for

more than a year as we were pulling together our Proqram

and Plan. And, we had controversy and a stalemate, say

with the City Council- or - the community, on certain issues

of what should be done because now we are talking about

money. This was not a theoretical Plan; but was going to

be transl-ated into action. Essentially, from the community

standpoint, it got down to jobs; employment was the thing

that mostly they wanted to see come out of this. We had to

have, of course, a broader perspective, dealing with the

housing issue and - all the other social issues. Education

was a burning issue and we had real "fights" with the

Superlntendent and the Board of Education on what should be

done.

In the end, where a stalemate existed, f made final

decisions, "We have to bring this to a conclusion, and this

is where f'm coming down on it." I would make sure when I
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said that that I had the Mayor with me, or if I didn't, he

and I had to work 1t out between us, even at the cost,

sometj-mes of the support of the Neighborhood Planning

Council. I was at meetiogs, on occasion, at. the NPC

office, when they were so angry with me that they locked

the doors and the big men were getting ready to 'Iay me

out.' At times, I had City Council members calling me on

the phone, and screaming and hollering at me, and it got to

be ugly sometimes. And even my own staff, on occasions,

wouldn't even talk to me, for days on end because of a

decisj-on that I had to make. Sometimes I had to do, not

what I preferred to do, but I sald, "This is the political

situation and I have to make a compromise."

AG: Can you give me an example of one of

those stalemates and political compromises?

MC: Yes. Housing. The decision that we

came to in housing was extreme.l-y controversial both in the

Neighborhood, and in the Clty Council and with the Mayor.

Ir[e decided, the Planning Team, that what we needed to do

was to undertake a housing solution that could have

ramj-fications throughout the whole City. We should not use

any money 1n that first year's $5 million to build any
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housing or fix any housing. We needed more information; we

needed more support; we needed to learn how we cou1d find

the right mix of investment, and resources and planning to

real1y solve the City's housing problem which was one of

very dilapidated and over-crowded tenements and serious

housing condltions. so, for that first year budget of $s

million, our budget for housing was something l-ike $100,000

for more study. And that drove everybody crazy. They

wanted to see something in the ground going up. Newark was

building housing and Trenton was going to build housing.

Why can't Hoboken? Housing is our most serj-ous problem-

And, I was saying, "No, we need more time to get this thing

right." I was not very popular. But, of course in

retrospect, it was the right decision because we then

learned what we could do. And, by the second year, we had

obtained approximately $100 million of outslde private

investment that was committed to Hoboken to begin

renovating the large apartment buildings.

The other thing was, everyone in the city who lived here

for a long time (excluding myself and my team) wanted new

housing. They wanted all these tenements to be torn down,

on Washington Street and everlrwhere, but we said, "No new

housing, we're going to rebuild what we have. This is the
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strength of the City." My life was "in jeopardy" for

making that decision. Hoboken people dldn't understand the

value of their housing, to them; good housing was new

housing, with a carport like a suburban situation. And so

that change of opinion took a long time to come. And it

only came after the apartments starting to be completed and

whole blocks of housing started to turn around. The

construction was good quality, the management was good, and

this was starting to have an impact on the City. That was

one example and, there were others, but that was probably

the most outstanding dilemma we had at the start of the

Program. . .

AG: Was some of the pressure about building

new housing and tearlng down the old housing, political

pressure as a result of developers interested in building

new housing?

MC: There were no developers interested in

coming to Hoboken. We had to go out and convince the first

developer to come to Hoboken. No developer wanted anything

to do with Hoboken up until around 1980, some ten years

1ater. we discovered a developer in Newark, called

Priorities Investment owned by Joseph Barry and his father.
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They were doing good housing rehab work in Newark. we had

gone to about seven or eight citles to see what developers

were doing. The Barry's were doing the best quality work

with the best understanding of how to work with a

community. But at first, they didn't want to come to

Hoboken; they had a very good thlng going in Newark and we

had a hard time convincing them. But, they came and talked

to the Mayor and others and eventually decided to come to

Hoboken. It took us about a year, from the time we started

looking, to find the right developer. The Barry's sold

their business in Newark and started Applied Housing in

Hoboken and with them; we developed a strategy and program

to rehabilltate the old, deteriorated apartment buildings

throughout the citY.

AG: So initially, and for quite awhile, it

was renovation and not tearing down and building new

housing. But you mentioned that the building we are in now

is new, as a result of that time.

MC: Our housing Program had several

components to it. First of all, the most urgent problem

was the tenement build.j-ngs. And with Applied Housing

getting started, and with an important Federal commitment,
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wereceived$l0omillionformajorhousi-ngrehabilitatlon

within a year or two. Things were starting to move.

The second area of, or Component were the homeowners who

were very demoralized. You could buy almost any brownstone

in the City for $15,000 to $20,000 at that time. Many

vacancies and "for Sale" signs on every block. And they

aII wanted to sell and go to Secaucus or the suburbs at the

time. That's how I rented our first brownstone for $100 a

month. The family had feft it in the hands of a real

estate person to se]l, who couldn't sell it. $l-8,000 was

the asking price at that time. I didn't buy that house, bY

the way; I bought another house. But an\rway, we had to do

something to raise homeowners' morale. This was the genius

of Mode1 Cities; we didn't have to use any existing housing

programs in Washington. So we cou]d devise our own. And

so we designed our own homeowners program cal1ed the

Hoboken Municipal Home Improvement ProgTram. It took us

around one year of planning, talking to homeowners,

contractors, the banks. There wasn't one bank in the City

willing to give any Ioans to homeowners for fixing up their

homes. There wasnrt one. we found the first. lender in

Plainfield. ft was a smal1 lender-Larson Mortgage Company.

We discovered a unique federal program in Washington that
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we hadn,t heand about. with Larson, we started making 3z

loans to homeowners to fix up their homes and, with

extended terms. That program started s1ow1y but in five

years we had about a thousand, more than a thousand

homeowners in the program. They were. standing in line to

get their applications because we made the process so

simple. owners were approved for loans in 4 hours with

their choice of contractors. And so we set up the Hoboken

Municipal Home Improvement Program. We trained a staff of

cost estimators and loan advisors (about ten people) all

Hoboken residents with the exception of the Director who

came from New York City. We trained the staff in aII the

required skiIIs and the program operated for more than 10

years. The same thing worked in the apartment complexes,

the tenements.

One blg problem we had, had to do with relocation. Every

apartment complex was way overcrowded. How can Applied

Housing do any renovation? They couldn't do it with the

tenants living in p1ace. This was going to be a

"substantial rehabilitation"; everybody had to get out for

the work to be done. To evict 100 or 200 families in each

of these buildings was going to start a rlot in the city.

No question about it. Appli-ed Housing said, "We can't
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move. werre stuck.,, I went to washington, with the Mayor

and with the Barry's. W met with our two Senators' ,

Congressmen, and top HUD officials. We said, "You've got to

give us some additional support so that we can handle this

relocation problem so that it wiII work. Otherwise we

can't begin. There is nothing we can do." The Puerto

Ricans were already mobilizing. They were expecting to be

evlcted and.Iose their apartments. HUD gave us a special

Housing rel-ocatj-on grant of $2 million. We organized a

Relocation office staff with aII loca1 people, including

the Director. We set up the office in the same block as

the first project on Willow between Twelfth and Thirteenth,

a big apartment building. It was one of the worst buildings

with more than a hundred apartments with possibly 500

people called the Tootsie RoIl Elats. A11 of those people

had to be relocated. Most of the staff was Puerto Ricans

who knew all of the residents. And we were able to give

every family $5,000 cash, (this is L970) for relocating

elsewhere. When the work was done, they could come back.

The completed apartments had a maximum of four bedrooms

which meant a family of ten persons couldn't get back in.

Four bedrooms was the maximum; most apartments had two or

three bedrooms. Federal guidelines applied. We couldn't

have overcrowding anymore because we were to completely
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rehabilitate these buildings. Anlrway, if someone had to

live Somewhere e1se, they received the $5r 000, plus another

$5r 000 and moving expenses Lo move wherever they wanted to

go including Puerto Rico which many families decided to do.

Some received $10,000 in 1910 so that was a lot of money

for relocation. Those who wanted to apply to get back in

to the building had first priority and t.here would be no

other families let in except or until the relocates were

settled. This was a totally Puerto Rican project except for

a few white people (elderly people) . We didn't have one

incident; everyone was happy. And it worked. And so that

became our relocation model for using the 2 million from

Washington. Once we got the first building and relocation

completed it was easier to do subsequent bulldinqs,

something like a "rollover.'/ For each of our projects like

thls we hired only loca1 staff. More often than notr the

Director was Someone from out of - town, because of their

specialized experience, and in managing complex programs.

AG: I know in the Plan You listed many

employment activities and how to work with that problem,

but I was curious to know what kind of employment. It

didn't seem like much employment was available in Hoboken,

especially with the demise of - industry at that time. Can
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you explain some of the issues that you dealt with and how

the employment issue was addressed?

MC: At that time there was a lot of

employment in Hoboken; there were a lot of garment shops.

Now these were needle trades, but they were mostly all

unionized and so the wages were pretty good. The

conditions were not all- that great, but the... There was also

a lot of work on the waterfront. Ships were stil] coming

and leavlng from Hoboken. That was on its way out but

there was sti11 a lot of cargo and longfshoremen were very

active. one thing we noted in Hoboken was that for the

Iocal people, New York was an "alien" country and the

Hudson River was a "wall. " It might have been a waII of

water. Few people ventured across the Hudson for jobs in

7970.

we had a long-range goal with employment, which had to do

with economic development. But we took three specific

steps right away: one, for the rehabilitation, for the

work, Applled Housing agreed to hire 1ocal people: number 1

for laboring jobs and number 2 for entry jobs into the

unj-ons. Because of the size of our housing program and the

substantial money involved, we couldn't do it without union
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part.icipation. We negotiated with the unions including our

congressman and Applied Housi-ng. These talks were

difficul-t, but we insisted that the unions open jobs in the

construction trades. That was accomplished and a lot of

Puerto Ricans and Bl-acks got into the union. Not as many

as we would have liked; I can't tetl you the numbers off

hand. I used to know them. But, entry jobs, ds

apprent.ices in the construction trade. This was an

important victory for us because housing construction was

going to go ahead and we had a big commitment to complete

more than 2,OOO apartments in Hoboken. HUD in Washington

qave us one of the biggest allocations in the country.

Number two, local women, most of who worked in the qarment

and other factories in Hoboken and Hudson county. I^Je

established an Office SkilIs Training Program and on one

floor of a vacant factory we renovated it to look like a

modern office. Our Office Skills Training Progiram operated

day and night for women to learn typing and office skills

and office equipment. And we had fifty women in training

during the day and fifty women at night. Each woman

received $50 a week for her baby-sitting costs. The program

was run l1ke an office in New York. And - Norma, my

secretary, became the Director of t.hat Program. Then
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Washington put us out of business. They said we could only

do Training Programs operating through the Department of

Labor. I^]e had a big to-do about that, and in the end we

l-ost.

AG: Describe the results of the program-

were women hlred in New York, oTr for secretarial jobs

because of this?

MC: I can't remember the details but the

success rate was very high. And after a full year of

training (and they were going Iike thirty hours a week),

thelr skills were very good. And we had a regular

graduation at the end of the year and we graduated I think

a total of about three hundred by the time the Program

ended. Many of them got very good jobs in New York and

elsewhere. It did work well and it should have continued

for many more Years, but it wasn't.

One more thing on employment, we also set up a training

program with the Maritime unions in which men could get

jobs on shlps in the engine room as stationary engineers.

Their licenses as stationary engineers also qualified them

for operating power units in large apartment buildings. The
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Maritime union provided us with instructors and space. we

were training about twenty-five a year for about flve, six

years, who went through that Program. some got jobs on

ships and every grraduate received their Certification from

the State.

AG: Was the Mayor particularly helpful with

the shipbuilding and the - maritime workers because of

his role? Did he do, was he President of this Union at the

same tlme he was Mayor and was that considered a conflict

or was that normal at the time?

MC: He was an official of the Shipbuilders,

the Mayor of Hoboken, and the Hudson County Freeholder all

at the same tlme. That's - one of the perks of becoming

elected. That dual kind of job holding was considered

normal and good.

AG: Those were the three main training

programs. There were other issues that you identified in

the report were health, and, could you talk a little bit

about the health issues here?
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MC: Yes. Health. The one thing that we

did was to provide money for the city Health Department,

and to help supplement the salaries of the city Nurse, dL

that time, which was the head of that Department. The

other thing we did was we concentrated on women'S health

and child health. And we established what we called the

Hoboken Family Heal-th Servj-ces Program. And we established

that in saint Mary Hospital on the ground fIoor. And we

paid for the staff. The outstanding probl-em for people in

Hoboken on health was the hospital. It was a big issue

with low-lncome people. They could only get attention if

they were sent to the Emergency Room, and they had to pay a

$50 fee (something Iike that, something outraqeous) to be

seen and they were turned away and sent home if they

couldn't. And 1t was the only hospital that would take

care of them except the Jersey City Medical Center, which

was rea]Iy for very, very poor lndigenous people. And that

was a horror scene over there, Jersey City, yes.

Hoboken, s only hospital was a real problem for our 1ocal

neighborhood people and for us. We had great dlfficulty in

attempting to negotiate. And, at first, the hospital

administration wouldn't even deal with us, until the

Administrator retired. The new administrator Came in who

was more proqressive, more forward looking. And she
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embraced the idea of a Family Health Center in the hospital

in which we paid for the administrative staff and they

provided the medical back up. We decided not to set up our

own Health C}inic which many other Model Cities had done.

Our motto was, "Don't do something which somebody else Can

do better." Negotiate working arrangements with existing

institutions. And so we couldn't have done it wi-thout the

change in leadership at the hospital. We set up the first

Hoboken Family Health Center and, of course, the medical

support was all right there at the Hospitaf. And, no one

had to go to the Emergency Room, except for emerqencies.

The other thing in health, which was very important, we

decided that we needed to do something about family

planning and women's heal-th issues, specifically. My

Health Planner, Julie, from New York City left Columbia to

come to work for us ful} time. She came from a medical

family; her father was a doctor. And she was very strong

on womenrs liberation. But anlrway, Julie said we have to

have, basically, a Birth control Program, but we coul-dn't

call it that because this was a very Catholic city. So, w€

ca11ed it a Family Planning Proqram to be staffed

medically, and with support services for women and

teenaqers Concerning women'S health issues such as birth
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Control methods. . No abortions of Course, but a complete

health examination from a doctor, women' s doctors for the

most part. And then, fo1Iow up treatment if necessary.

But the idea was to focus on women's health. However, we

faced opposition from the Catholic Churches. The Churches'

Pastors came to the Mayor and complained about the Program

and said it had to be stopped. We had a site and we had

our staff all selected, all Hoboken people except Julie

Spain who was going to direct it.

[Here, the tape runs out.]

4t



TAPE 2, SIDE A:

AG: Before you continue, YIC, about the

heal-th issue and your decislon to focus on women, it seems

to me that many of the innovations and ideas that became a

part of this Program were, in many ways, before their time.

Thinking about women's health as a priority, about family

planning issues, about not tearing down buildings. So,

when you finish with the health issues, can you explain a

1itt1e bit about how these innovations, besides your own

ability to think through these issues and your expertise in

these areas, but these Programs were not coillmon, I would

imagine, throughout this Model Cities. Could you explain a

little bit about that?

MC: Yes. I want to finish the family

planning chapter because it was very signiflcant. We had

an impasse with the Catholic Church in Hoboken. I asked

Julle to "go out and meet with every one of the priests

individually and convince them. They don't need to support

it but see if you can get an aqreement where they will not

publicly oppose it." The Mayor had said, "If they oppose

it,1t's dead. And you can't do it.' So Julie met with
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everyone one of the priests. one day she said, "We've got

it ! They're not going to oppose iLt " I asked, "How did you

do it? She said, "In our program we can what we want as

Iong as we instruct people, not only in contraception but

al-so in God's way." "God's way?" "Yes, the rhythm

method." So I said, "Is that a1.l?" "Yes", she said, "that's

aII". So we started our Hoboken Family Planning Program.

,Julie was the Director for the f irst two years. Then she

was succeeded by a local woman, a Hispanic, with a health

background. Again, our staff was from Hoboken, mostly

Hispanics. The progrram is stil1 operating today.

The Eamily Health Center is still operating in St. Mary'.

But St. Mary's eventually took it over as their own which

was the kind of innovation that we had been looking for in

the Mode1 Cities all along. I had worked in the Federal

Government, and I knew that, and this was true of houslng

too, in every area, that if we utilize only Model Cities'

money and Federal funding and expect our programs to

continue, they will not.. We have to build continuity into

the future and that has to be with other public and private

support-especially flnancing. Unless we have some

combination of public and private financing aI1 of our

Model Cities' progirams wiII stop in a few years. We were

43



looking for long-range institutional change that meeLs our

objectives of embracing poor people and providing for

people as well as new and permanent services.

So, in housing, that was true and eventually the private

sector carried through. There was another housing sector-

senior housing for the elderly and disabled who had no

place to go. We built five Senior Citizens Housing

projects. For people with disabilities and/or elderly.

These housing programs were funded entirely by HUD. None

of our many housing programs were financed by Mode1 Cities'

funds, except for our support staffing.

There's a buil-ding on Jefferson St. between Third and

Eourth; it's calIed Clock Towers. In 1968, it was a vacant

factory. It was owned by Keuffel and Esser: the

manufacturers of drafting supplies, slide rul-es, and

engiineering equipment. Like many factories, the 60's and

70's, not only families were moving to the suburbs but so

were the factories. K and E went to Morristown and buil-t a

new headquarters, leaving a two-acre block tract with a

huge empty buildlng which was deteriorating badly by 1968.

The site is across the street from St. Francis Church. It

was vacant about flve years was vandalized with derelicts

44



Iiving in it. It was a big mess. The Pastor cafled me

often, "The K & E building is destroying our parish.

People are afraid to come to Mass on Sundays. " And t.he

City couldn't keep it locked up, because it was so big.

K & E borders on Jefferson and Adams, Third and Fourth.

There are a few private houses on one end, but baslcally

it's a two-acre slte. I and my team said, "We need to

produce houslng out of that place. We coufdn't find any

existing Housing program at HUD that would take a factory

building and renovate. There was a new Program called

Operation Breakthrough. HUD was going to select some sites

around the country for modular housing. We'11 try to get

Operation Breakthrough funds, and we'11 get a new modular

apartment building here in the middle of the city. Thls

will save the neighborhood." Unfortunately, HUD said,

"Hoboken, you're gettlng too much. This one is going to

Jersey City." So Operation Breakthrough went to Jersey

City for some modular housing. We declded to use $50r 000

to do a study of the building itsel-f : engTineering, survey

work and so forth. WE had approached Applied Housing which

had already started on its second and third block of

buildings. They went to look at it and they said, "No

45



way!" We don't want to touch that building. The concrete

floors are 3-4 feet thick." It was built by Germans. It

was a fort.ress. Applied Housing said, "We don't know how

we could deal with the costs of trying to put in a.ll the

utilities, and there are too many questions marks." We

hired a consulting firm, a speclalist in engineering and

housing from Philadelphia for $50,000. They came up three

months later. They came back and said, "It can't be done"

I said, "You're fired. That's the wrong answer."

Instinctively we knew that it was possible to do. One of

my team members, who had experience in New York working on

big housing projects, said, "There's a company t.hat's doing

a first factory conversion in the Vi11age. Let's talk to

them." They came to Hoboken and aqlreed to be our developer

for K& E. Again we piggybacked on their experience and

went back to Washington and received a special "set-aside"

of housing construction funds. But then Keuffel & Esser

Iet us know that they had a buyer for the building who was

going to use it as a warehouse and for garment shops. If

we wanted the bulldlngr w€ had to come up with $500,000 to

hold the building for 90 days. Otherwise, they were going

to sel1 it. To make a long story short, I decided to take

a gamble, one of many. And I took $500,000 of Federal

Model Cities money, placed it as a deposit on that building
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in order to get the time necessary for us to finalize our

deal with HUD in Washington. When the Federal auditors in

Washington saw that big payment go through, the White House

called Mayor DiPascale and sald, "What's going on down

there? HUD just told us that you used $500,000 of Model

Cities funds to place an option on a buildinq!"

AG: What year was this?

MC: Thls was 19'71. HUD sent an

investigator to Hoboken about K & E. My staff said,

"You're off to jail, Mike. Good byel" Most of them were

sad. Anyway, t.he investigator arrived and he was hostile.

By the end of the weekr w€ had convinced him. He reported

back to HUD, "Let them do it. I think there is a good

chance this project will succeed." To make a long story

shortr w€ got $5 million to renovate the building for 1ow

and moderate income people: 1-13 apartments-mostly Lwo,

three, and four bedrooms. ft's sti1l doing well and it is

still 1ow and moderate income. The developer owned the

building for several years. That was a requirement we

placed on our developers to own and manage their projects.

They couldn't sel-I and get out as so many developers do.
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They couldn't just get their money and go and often leave a

MCSS. They had to stay, and manage their housing.

But those were the ways in which we were able to deal with

the reallties. Model Cities qave us flexibility and

support, and we were starting to show some progress. More

often than not able to get support for some projects that

otherwise could never get funded.

AG: Back to my initial question. You

were innovative with both housing and the women's health

issues. How were you able to accomplish this?

MC: At that timer we didn't think in

terms of being innovators. We were thinking j-n terms of

what wil-l bring the city back to 1ife. How can we open the

windows and doors, let in fresh air, bring in new

investment, bring in new interesL, resolve, and alleviate

the problems of the city. And, so just as the issues

confronted us, problems or opportunities, fly staff said,

"How do we make this work for Hoboken, for the long run?

How should we proceed? How do we get the support we need?

The financing? The support services (public and private)

to make this an enduring and lasting improvement? Whether
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it was the tenements, the homeowners r drt empty factory

building, it wasn't hard for me to sdy, "I can't let this

factory become a warehouse that would adversely affect an

entire neigrhborhood." This was a very important

neighborhood, only two bl-ocks from St. Ann's and across the

street from St. Francj-s (two important ltalian parishes).

So, I said, "We have an opportunity here. This 1s taklng a

big risk, but I am not taking the risk for myself.u I knew

a lot about how the federal Government worked. For four

years, I was on the other side giving federal- grants to

communities, multi-miIlion dolIar grants in Appalachia and

the South when I was working for EDA. f didn't act

recklessly or without abandon. I said, "I have my feet on

the ground and my objectives are solid. It m taking some

risk. We're moving into an unknown situation, but we're

not doing this for the sake of "li-ving on the edge" and

certainly not for personal- financial gain. Therefore,

we're going to proceed with care, but not wlthout some risk

as we11.

Our Hoboken Home Improvement Progiram, whlch became so

successful, where more than two thousand homeowners

partlcipated when we offered three percent loans while the

bank interest rates were L0-722. Because of some favorable
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publicity, the state Attorney General- contacted me and

said, "You have to stop that program. This is the

Constltution of the State of New Jersey- You cannot

subsidlze interest rates with public funds so your program

has to cease.,, I refused to do anything about it and the

Attorney General stopped the city payroll. That got the

Mayor's attention, and everyone else. We went off to

Trenton, the Mayor, the City attorney, ilY attorney, ilY

housinq consultant and myself. We convinced the Attorney

General that our Housing Program was outside the narrow

definition of the Constitution, which says that no

municipality can give cash grants or gifts to its

residents. That was what we were doing, i-n ef fect, by

reducing the interest rate in the form of a cash grant, but

the cash was going into improving the housing. We had

conceived this method of flnancing to encourage homeowners

to invest in their houses. This was the first program of

its kind in the United States. Later the State Department

of Community Affairs published a publication on Hoboken's

Municipal Home Improvement Program whlch they sent all over

the state. We created it; it wasn't easy and it was

achieved through trial and error. We came up with the one

housing solution that would work in Hoboken using Federal
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and private funds. This program just ended only about five

years ago.

AG: What private money did your

receive?

MC: WelI, for that progiram no bank in

Hoboken woul-d participate at flrstr so our first lender was

Larson Mortgage Co. in Plainfield, New Jersey. After it

started showing some results, the first Hoboken bank joined

in, $Iashington Savings Bank. Then a second bank and a

thlrd bank and in five years, several banks wanted to

participate. We had changed a perception in Hoboken, that

investing Hoboken's houslng was not a losing proposition.

AG: So the private funds were bank

funds?

MC: It was all bank loans plus federal

and state funds- no glfts. And we developed our own

formula which had never been done before where we

subsldized the interest rate with the difference in the

interest going to the homeowner as a cash grant and going

into home improvements as a final payment. The bank loan
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amounted to roughly two-thirds and the subsidy worked to

about one-third. Eor a $12r 000 home improvement project,

the owner was borrowing $9,000 at L2Z and receiving $3,000

as a cash subsidy. The total amount "loaned" was a 4Z

effective interest rate. We called it an interest subsldy.

Our average home improvements loans were running about

$12,000. The homeowner was paylng about $100 a month on

$9,000 for ten years. The incentives worked. One other

thing we l-earned about was an unknown HUD regulation where

under certaln circumstances, you can insure the bank loan

by the Federal Government. We combined several resources

and support that interested the banks where before they

woul-d not have participated. Our program enabled them to

make their investment do so safely.

AG: When I read the Model Cities

documents, it seemed that most of the homes were renter-

occupied, not owner-occupied. Who were the homeowners,

what was their profile? Were they required (by taking the

Ioan) to renovate their homes, remain in their homes and

not se11 these homes for a certain period of time?

MC: To answer your last question

first: no, there were no conditions. That was an important
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policy decision, too. HomeownerS were going back and forth

about whether to stay in Hoboken or not. Most of the

homeowners needed important improvements and work on their

homes. We placed no condition on what they did except j-f

they had any substandard housing conditions, that these had

to be corrected before, let's Sdy, renovating the basement

for an apartment or something else. Homeowners had to

take care of health and safety violations and other home

improvements , too, which we wrapped t.ogether into one

proj ect.

For me, a good way to l-ook at Hoboken's housing is to

dlvide the housing into three categori-es: 1) single (t-2)

family homes 5,000 units; 2) detached tenements - 5, 000

unlts; and 3) large apartment buildings 5,000 unj-ts for a

total of l-5, 000 units.

AG: These units were in the Model

Cities neighborhood?

MC: Ear1y on we came to a conclusion

that we needed the entire city to be designated as a Model

City by HUD. At first, HUD said, "No. It is legally

impossible. At the most, 302 of the city." But Hoboken's
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Model Neighborhood boundary came to be extended to the

entire city. We went back to Washington and argued our

case. Our model Neighborhood won't work because there's no

natural dividing line between neighborhoods in Hoboken.

The City Planner chose an arbitrary boundary having the

characterlstlcs of a Model Neighborhood as HUD wanted but

it was an artificial boundary. Our Model Neighborhood dj-d

include the worst housing conditions and the hlghest

percentage of minorities and low income families. But we

needed to encompass the city to avoid controversy and to

unify Hoboken around Model Cities. HUD gave us a waj-ver

and we were the only City in the country so designated.

That. solved a big internal problem for us since residents

were complaining to the Mayor. They didn't see the reason

for the dividing line. If I have a home on Fourth Street,

I can get a loan; but if I live on Fifth Street I can't.

This was realIy a big problem politically for the Mayor and

within the City council. During Year l, the entire City

became a Mode1 City. That's why some of our first big

housing projects were uptown. The developers were saying

we need to begin in a location free from a lot of communiLy

entanglements "downtown" .
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AG: Thank You for clearing that uP.

How did you convince Washlngton to designate the entire

city? Was the small geographic area a factor?

MC: The top PeoPle at HUD at that time

were working for President Nixon, but they were very sharp.

They liked what they were hearing about Hoboken. They

liked the Mayor and my staff and the Model Cities

Application prepared by Ralph Seligiman. I had a good

rapport with HUD as well plus other contacts in Washington.

On one occasion, Senator Harrison Williams lnvited the

Mayor and me to lunch in the Conqressj-onal dining room.

Conqressman Dominick Daniels was also very supportive.

Basical}y, HUD wanted to give us the best opportunity to

make Model Cities successful. And they were bending over

backwards to give us support such as funding for relocation

which they realized was indispensable to open some space

and for a relocation progiram that the residents would

accept. Otherwise we were going to have riots and there

would be no chance for Model Cities to work- We found

receptive Federal bureaucrats, who were positive, and who

wanted Model Cities to work in Hoboken and they saw a

success story here. Hoboken was different from Bedford

stuyvesant in Brooklyn and the lower Bronx. This was a
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different kind of a city. They l-iked us. They saw we were

rea1, and Hoboken was a special clty. That was a happy day

when the Mayor coul-d announce that all of Hoboken was a

Model City. We immediately asked HUD to increase our

budget accordingly, but we qot nowhere on that.

We started with the biggest housing problem which was the

tenement. That was the most obvious, the most dramati-c,

and the worse housing situation in the City. V{e developed

our prototype/ our strategy, a good developer and the

federal backlng to move ahead on a large sca1e.

The other end of the housing spectrum was the homeowners.

That was the Mayor's political base. These are the people

who vote. These people were very important to the Mayor

and very important to the City, because so many were moving

out of Hoboken. We wanted to reverse that trend, to get

people to stay, to flnd reasons for them to stay. Our

Hoboken Municipal Home lmprovement Program became the

foundation of that goal. In return for them investing in

their homer w€ can give them subsidies plus a lot of

technlcal support. They did not have to worry about

contractors because our staff was monitoring c1ose1y.

There would be no work left undone; no contractor could get
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paid and walk away. We controlled the whole process in

support of the homeowner. "FIy by night" contractors were

no problem, They had to qualify to get i-nto our program;

they had to be interviewed, agree to the conditions, sign

an agreement. They received their final- payments after our

loca1 staff checked the work. And, most important, is the

homeowner happy? And/ does the work look good?

AG: Eor clariflcatlon, what is the

difference between tenements and apartment buildings at

that time?

MC: We11, the tenements, for example,

I would refer to our first big project on WiIIow Avenue

between L2th and l-3th Streets where 1-00 families lived upon

completj-on. Before rehab, there were maybe 200-300 hundred

persons living in there. The average family size in

Hoboken at the time was three persons. There were three

people in an averagie family according to the census and our

own surveys showed that to be pretty close. But of course,

in tenements there were larger families, and in single

family homes there are fewer people. The block on

Washington Street between l-2l.h and 13tn, on the east side,

there were almost two hundred units in that building.
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These tenements were fow income, bad conditions, and no

investment on the part of the owner before Model Clties.

Apartment bulldings are the tlpical four or five story

walk-up buildings with "railroad t1pe" apartments-one

apartment on each side, two on each floor. So there would

be eight or ten apartments in one building. Thls is where

most of our problems came later on. By the time Model

Cities ended, we had made much progress with the tenements

and with single family homes. But we didn't have a handle

on the individual apartment buildings. By L976, there was

stil1 no wave of developers, but a few developers were

coming into the Clty to purchase these aparLments.

In L9'74-L975, Model Citles was working and we were starting

to get publicity in places like the New York Times, the

Washington Post, and Lhe Christian Science Monitor as welI

as several televislon interviews. Many of the reporters

and camera people who interviewed us also began to move

into Hoboken. Newsweek's first International Editor and

his family moved into Hoboken as a result of one of the

news stori-es about Hoboken. But this was also true of

other media people. As a resultr w€ were guaranteed

favorable running commentary in the media from then on.
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But the apartment buildings which comprised a third of ,the

City's housing units were where the problem of evictions

and fires occurred. A lot of bad stuff happened there. I

continued to live in Hoboken, after I resigned and still

Iive here. By the way, when I left Mode1 Cities- Community

Development, 150 people were on my staff with only about

thirty from out of town, the rest were all loca1 residents.

Alt of our services programs were staffed by 1ocaI people.

I resigned in December, 1975, for a number of reasons. One

of them was political, second, I was tired, and, third, my

personal life was falling apart. I worked eight years, six

or seven days a week. And/ it was time to leave. The new

Mayor and I were not working together as well as I did with

the previous Mayor. I was finding it impossible to do what

I needed to do. We needed to buy as many apartment

buildings as possible and take them off the market. We

needed to set up a non-profit housing corporati-on that

would work under "Model Cities"-rea11y Communlty

Development by then. We need to buy a thousand of these

bulldings because theses are going to be a big problem ln

the future. We could see a few bad signs of things to

We knew that the City basically had bottomed out.come.
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With another five years of Federal support, we could get in

front of the next housing issue. HUD started Community

Development in 1975. Community Development was really a

watered-down version of Model Cities. But, there wasn't

enough federal funding to do what was necessary to buy up

as many apartment buildings as possible and keep them off

the private market. And then begin a s1ow, gradual process

of renovation and manaqement that would help the people in

p1ace, because these buildings were f11led with low-income

people livlng in bad housing conditions.

We needed another five years to make thls work and $5

million a year to leverage for purchasing and

rehabilitation. A strong non-profit Housing Corporation

could accomplish this. The Housinq Corporation did get

started, but it got side-tracked on other things. It did

build some new housing for Puerto Rican families; about

fifty were built, two-family homes for-mostly for Puerto

Rican poglice, firefighters, and this was good. But the

problem in housing, we never did anything to speak of. If

I had stayed, and if HUD funded us wellr w€ could have

solved a good part of this housing i-ssue in five years or

so.
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I want to make an additional comment about our Model Cities

staffing which is, I think, very important. I had a

requirement of everyone working for the Model Cities

Program at whatever level: everyone had to get to school

besides staff training. Everyone had to be enrolled in a

certified educational institution and be working on the

next leve1 of their education. I set up a counseling unit

1n Model Cities...with professi-onal counselors-three people,

ful1 time, who worked out with every staff person thelr

educational p1an. My secretary, Norma, was a high school

graduate. She had to go to college,' we paid 100U tuition

as long as you passed your courses. If you flunked a

course, you had to take 1t again at your own expense.

Everyone went to school; everyone had their classes pald.

They even turned it on me and said, "What about yov?"

AG: You mentioned that you thougrht

about law school.

MC: No. I didn't want to be a lawyer.

But, "It applies to everyone, riqhrt?" And so, I studied

for a doctorate at NYU. I already had a master's deqree.

Norma got her college deqree. This program became so

popular and many City employees wanted to come to work for
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Model Cities. Of courser we had a hundred and fifty at our

peak. And the great majority was 1ocal people, and

everyone went to school for Associate Arts Degrees for

certain trades. It was a requirement of employment. It

was called Career and Counseling and they saw to it that

everyone got their program worked out and monitored it full

time. ft was a beautiful program. When the Model Cities

program ended, HUD came up with one audit finding, and that

was our Career Counseling program. They concl-uded that

this program should not have been done. There was no rule

against it. I said, "We were writing a new book." They

said, "Yes, but you could not do for Model Cities employees

what you couldn't do for the regular City employees. " That

was their only audit finding amounting to a lot of money.

A findinq against, you know who was headlines ! AII of the

tuition and all the support were ineligible and the City

had to pay it back. We negotiated our way out of that one.

But it was not easy. My staff didn't believe me when I

said, "Model- Cities isn't going to last forever. You're

not going to be here forever. When you leave, you need to

be qualified to get a better job. That's all it's about.

When you leave, you're not going to be dead-ended. You

will have more capability and professional possibilities in

the future." One of our counselors became the Director of
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Admissions at the new Hudson County Community College.

Some persons went to law school, my houslng director got

his 1aw degree. I didn't get my Ph.D. though.

AG: You didn't get your Ph.D? What

were you getting your Ph.D. in?

MC: Public Administration

PART I I

AG: Thls is Part II of an interview

with Michael Coleman, the former Director of the Hoboken

Model Clties Program. Today is August 13tn, 2003. Mr

Colman, can you tell me a llttle bit about the education

goals of Mode1 Cities?

MC: Education was one of our more

important priorities. Our education planner, Vlviana

Borden, the daughter Munoz Marin, the first Governor of

Puerto Rico. When Viviana was a visitor at the White House

with her father, she recal-led occasions there when John

Kennedy was President, and of playing with the Kennedy
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children. As our Educational PIanner, she directed our

Education programs with distinction.

We attempted to establ-ish a cooperative demonstration

program with the Board of Education withln the City.

Through various special programs and services, and support

we would show that those younqsters on track to dropplng

out of school at the age of L6 could become achievers,

graduate from high school-, and go on to higher education.

We did not get anywhere with the Board of Education.

Instead, we decided to work outside of the educational

system, and not within it. We developed programs in the

pre-school area simil-ar to Head Start, but also daycare for

parents working or going to school. WE contracted with

Bank Street College of Education in New York. They trained

some of our local people to become teachers in the pre-

school programs. We also established on Washington Street,

in the center of the City, a Tutoring and Counseling

Center. We renovated a vacant storefront and organized a

Tutoring and Counseling program for high school students

and junior hlgh school- students who were having trouble in

school and needed counseling and tutoring. The Tutoring

and Counseling Center was for students who had dropped out

of school. They could come back to this Center and regroup
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themselves and finish high school at least. The Center was

very popular. we hired college students and the counselors

and tutors whom we paid for their time. The Counseling

Center was open day and night until late at night and ran

six days a week and it was very successful. Ralph

Seligiman, our Planning consultant, became the director of

that center. He coordinated activities and education

there. We had some proqrams to interest students returning

to school including a student Pilot training program that

we operated out of Teterboro Airport. Besides actual

fliqht instruction the students coul-d se why math and

Engllsh are important to real life.

A third education component was post high school. We

determlned in our research, there weren't any real

educational opportunities for adults. Stevens, Jersey City

State College and St. Peter's College were four year

colleges. Most adul-ts 1n Hoboken wouldn't go to New York

or couldn't afford to go to school there. So we started

the Hoboken Community Co11ege. We rented a mansion on

Castle Point Terrace that was vacant. We fixed it up with

classrooms. The teachers came from Stevens, Jersey City

State, and St. Peter's and the courses were accepted for

credit at all three col1eges.
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This Community College worked very wel1. It was very

popular. We had, at the high point, some two hundred

students going there day and night; most of the courses

were in the afternoon and evenings. In 1975, when the

State set up the Community College System, the Hudson

County Community College was integrated within the State

system. That was a good demonstration again of how the

Model Cities Program worked to meet a need loca1ly which

ten became institutionalized at a higher leveI.

AG: Did the students who enrolled have to be high

school- graduates?

MC: The students didn't need to have graduated from

high school. Some of them would be too o1d to go back to

hiqh school, but they needed to achieve a certain level of

competence in English, math to qualify for co11ege. There

were preliminary course for these adults students just as

they have now at Community College for adults to return to

school at the college 1evel.

AG: Did they take their GED before they continued to

college?
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MC: No, GED course were part of the curriculum.

Alsor our staff assisted many students to obtain college

credits on the basis of their Iife experience. Some of

them got a year or more of college credits in this manner.

AG: Do you know how many students that went through

this program stayed in Hoboken? Were there better jobs

available here?

MC: I may have known at one time, but now I don't

recal1.

AG: You mentioned that you started a pre-school-

program to begin education at a stronger leve1 before the

chlldren begin public education. I did read in the Model

Cities material that one of the most pressi-ng needs in

Hoboken was daycare. Were these needs met?

MC: WE did not have sufficient federal- or state

funding to meet all of the daycare needs in Hoboken at that

time.
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AG: The Board of Education did not particlpate in the

Model Cities program?

MC: No, they didn't become directly involved. Of

Course that's changed now, and there are many innovations

in the school system such as Charter Schools. Our

relatj-onshlp with the schoot personnel improved over time.

Viviana used to meet often with the School Superintendent,

Tom Mc Feeley. He was impressed by her; she was an

impressive young woman, and extremely brlght.

AG: What are your feelings about why they didn't want

to work you?

MC: They didn't want anyone from the outside

especially Model Cities directing any school programs.

AG: V'lere the City and the School District connected

in any way at that time?

MC: The City and the Board of Education were complete

integrated. In fact, the Mayor was the Secretary of the

Board of Education for many years. Everything was

interconnected. Basically, Mayor de Pascale supported Model
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Cities efforts without his support we could not have

achieved any results.

AG: Why was it so difficult for the Mode1 Clties Plan

to include the Board of Education?

MC: The educational system was the foundation of

political power in Hoboken with a large number of jobs

involved. But that was okay, because a lot of good

education efforts came about as a result of Model Cities.

People begran to stay in Hoboken. They began to demand

better education. So, it was the beginni-ng. Our

educational programs made an impact in the City.

AG: A good beginning is important. We've talked

about housing, employment, education and health. Before we

go to another area, can you briefly describe the education

performance in Hoboken at the time. I do remember readlng

that 7OZ of the children read below their grade level and

other dismal statistics. Is there anything else you can

add to that?

MC: A very hiqh percentage of Hispanic and Black

students did not finish hlgh school.
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AG: This high school drop out rate then influenced

the hlgh unemployment rate among that population. Another

issue to discuss is Public Safety. I read that there were

not enough po11ce officers at that time. The murder rate

was doub1e t.hat of the State. Can you elaborate?

MC: We1l, Hoboken was not much different from other

cities where people lived in serious conditions and where

there was a lot of unemployment. Not any different from

Jersey City or Newark around us. I don't remember numbers.

I do remember one fact that street crimes taken against

people walking on the streets were few. There were very

few murders in Hoboken-only one or two murders year in

Hoboken at al-l and usually that was where the people knew

each other. Hoboken was a much safer city than Jersey City

and Newark and others around us. There was a reason for

this which we didn't understand at first. It had to do

with the fact that people were out on the streets until

late at night, especj-ally in the summers. Hoboken is a

very densely populated city. Where you have a Iot of

people, you don't have crime, because people are watching

out for each other. That became an interesting conclusion

when you take that reality and improve street lighting, and
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improve housing condltions so that people are out on their

stoops at night and kids are playing ball in the streets.

You have a safe cit.Y.

Most of the street crime in the L970's was car theft

and purse snatching-not much violent crime. Once f was

mugged coming back from New York at night by a group of

teenagers who didn't mean any harm, they just wanted my

money. AS it turned out, they were from Jersey City.

Hoboken was a city in which indlviduals rarely had to fear

crime. My wlfe would come home for her citizen meetings at

night and walk home and not feel any danger-even late at

night.

With regard to Model Cities Public Safety proqrams,

our efforts were in the court system and when people were

arrested for crime. We had a Public Safety Planner on our

staff, a woman who had a 1aw degree. She was awarded a

grant, which is given to outstanding law school graduates

and who have outstanding record. A foundation grant pald

for her salary while she worked for us for one year. She

concentrated on the court system. To make a long story

short, we established a pretrial j-ntervention program in

Hudson County. There was a need for people who were picked
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up for a minor crime or a major crime. There was no way for

someone who was just caught up 1n something minor to be

saved from going to jail. We set up a pre-tria1

intervention program with advocacy and counseling serving

not only Hoboken but all of Hudson County. Some years

l-ater, our Public Safety Planner was a Professor at Harvard

Law School.

AG: Was there any training of police in the

community?

MC: There was attention qij-ven to policy and community

relations. More police were on the streets and there was a

community relations police officer assigned to a Communlty

Relations office an Hispanic. With the City belng so

small and all police officers coming from Hoboken and

mostly living herer we did not have the problems of New

York or Newark. There were some complaints from

minorj-ties. But minorities were on the police force both

Black and Hispanic. And so it wasn't an out of control

situation.
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AG: Was there any awareness of local data at that

time about incidences of domestic violence, rape against

women?

MC: I don't reaI1y know and can't recall. I don't

know how much of that we knew or what we may have done. I

can't think of any specifics in that area.

AG: One of the issues we talked about previously is

not being able to buy apartment buildings that you wanted.

Were these buildlngs included in the fires that began in

Hoboken? Did the inability to buy them influence the

problems that came later?

MC: I think that it was clear that the apartment

building flres that took place over a period of a few years

were mostly intentional and were aimed at getting people

out of their buildings. There are 1aws, protecting people

who are tenants who didn't want to leave or cou]dn't be

bought out. And so, some people resorted to fires whlch

were very tragic. A lot of people in Hoboken lost their

11ves at that time. There were a 1ot of investigations

going on. And then the fires stopped as the investigations

started to bring about some results.
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I believe that in the years L975-1985 a policy should

have been pursued to acquire and rehabilitate individual

apartment buildings throughout the city. A significant

number of buildings could have been purchased at reasonable

prices at that time. A five floor walk up ten unit

apartment building could be purchased for $50,000- $70,000.

If a few hundred of these buildings had been acquired by

the City over that perlod, I belleve that much for

evictions, turmoil, and traqedy could have been avoided.

At the time, there about 500 existing apartment

buildings/ not big apartment complexes as we talked about

before . If even half of those buildings were brougrht into

some kind of protective environment so that the tenants in

those buildlngs could have remained, Hoboken would have

bene fited.

AG: In 1986, was the focus entirely on housing? Did

you examine the development of retail and business

concerns?

MC: We had a progrram for sma11 business loans to help

local merchants who had been in Hoboken for many years and
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who went through good times and bad times. we provlded

Ioans and grants to them. But the City has no rent control

Iaws for commerci-al proPerties.

AG: Thank you so much for all- of the time you have

given to the Oral History project. The interview was

fascinating.

MC: Thank you!
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